2003

# Kay H. Traveller Investments v. Questar Gas Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2A-3(2)(j) (2004).

#### **V. ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Issues Presented: (1) whether the trial court erred by ruling that there was no question of fact as to whether a document that did not contain the signature of the named grantor was on its face and within its four corners clear and unambiguous, and granted an easement and all rights contained therein; (2) whether the trial court erred in ruling that the Builder's Statute of Repose (Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-21.5 (2002)) applies to bar equitable claims for ejectment, declarative relief and quiet title; and (3) whether the trial court erred in ruling that a high-pressure natural gas feeder line that traverses Traveller's property but is otherwise incapable of providing natural gas or any other tangible benefit to Traveller's property because of its size and intended purpose constitutes an "improvement" within the meaning of the Builder's Statute of Repose.

Standard of Review: The first issue on appeal involves a challenge to the discretionary ruling of the trial court. The standard of review for such challenges is abuse of discretion. *Crookson v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 860 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1993).

The second and third issues on appeal involve questions of law. The standard of appellate review for questions of law following summary judgment is

correctness. *Price Dev. Co. v. Orem City*, 2000 UT 26, ¶9, 995 P.2d 1237. The trial court's conclusions receive no deference. *Id.* Moreover, all facts and reasonable inferences arising from such conclusions are viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993).

## **VI. GOVERNING AUTHORITY**

Utah Code Ann. §57-1-10; Utah Code Ann. §78-12-21.5; and Utah Code Ann. §78-40-1 *et seq.*

## **VII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, AND DISPOSITION IN COURT BELOW**

This case deals with a high-pressure natural gas feeder line that is owned by Questar and traverses Traveller's property; and whether said high pressure natural gas feeder line was properly installed pursuant to a validly granted easement; and whether said high pressure natural gas feeder line constitutes an "improvement" to Traveller's property.

On July 26, 2002, Traveller filed a lawsuit, seeking to quiet title to the disputed portion of the subject property, as well as making claims for immediate declaratory relief, trespass, private nuisance and ejectment. R. 1-9.

On August 20, 2002, Questar filed an Answer to Traveller's Complaint. R. 13-16.

On October 9, 2002, Questar filed a motion for summary judgment supported by a memorandum of points and authorities, claiming that all causes of action in Traveller's Complaint were barred (a) by the Builder's Statute of Repose as contained in Utah Code Ann. §78-12-21.5; or (b) by operation of the doctrine of after-acquired title/estoppel by deed. R. 25-58.

On November 8, 2002, Traveller filed a memorandum in opposition to Questar's motion for summary judgment and also filed a cross-motion for summary judgment, contending as follows: (1) that the Builder's Statute of Repose had no application to the disposition of the lawsuit because Questar's high pressure natural gas feeder line was not an "improvement" to Traveller's real property; (2) that the equitable doctrine of estoppel by deed and statute on after-acquired title had no application to the disposition of the lawsuit because this doctrine and statute only applied to conveyances of an estate in land and an easement is not an estate in land;<sup>1</sup> and (3) that the previous owners of the subject property never executed the purported easement document, which rendered the document ineffective to convey a perpetual interest in the subject property. R. 93-120.

On November 19, 2002, Questar filed a reply memorandum in support of its motion for summary judgment; and on November 20, 2002, Questar filed a motion

---

<sup>1</sup> Traveller has not appealed this second argument from its cross-motion for summary judgment due to the Utah Supreme Court's recent holding in *Arnold Indus. v. Love*, 2002 UT 133, 63 P.2d 721, which followed other jurisdictions in extending the after-acquired title doctrine to the granting of an easement.

pursuant to Rule 56(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, contending that it could not respond to Traveller's cross-motion for summary judgment without first completing more discovery. R. 122-134, and 145-148.

Traveller filed an opposition memorandum to Questar's Rule 56(f) motion on December 4, 2002. R. 149-175. On December 6, 2002, Questar filed a reply memorandum. R. 176-181. On December 12, 2002, the trial court issued an order continuing Traveller's cross-motion for summary judgment. R. 184-185.

On January 21, 2003, the trial court heard oral arguments on Questar's motion for summary judgment. R. \_\_\_\_.<sup>2</sup> At this hearing, the trial court agreed to renew Traveller's cross-motion for summary judgment since it dealt with the converse position of the same arguments addressed in Questar's motion for summary judgment, and ordered the parties to submit supplemental briefs to assist the trial court in resolving both motions for summary judgment.<sup>3</sup>

On February 18, 2003, Questar submitted its supplemental brief addressing "the subject of legislative intent regarding the 'Builder's Statute of Repose,' which [was] at issue in [Traveller's] Motion. R. 192-503.

---

<sup>2</sup> For some reason the trial court did not number the document entitled "Minutes: Motion for Summary Judgment" in its files, which was dated January 21, 2003. This document should follow chronologically between R. 191 and 192. A copy of this document appears, unnumbered, in volumes 1 and 2 of the trial court's files.

<sup>3</sup> Although there is no citation to the Record, examination of the parties' supplemental briefs and the trial court's order, dated May 5, 2003, clearly reflects that both motions for summary judgment were argued by the parties at the January 21, 2003 hearing and, thereafter, ruled upon by the trial court.

Also, on February 18, 2003, Traveller submitted its supplemental brief, and argued that the trial court should not

give effect to [Questar's] proposed definition of the term 'improvement' in the Builder's Statute of Repose because (1) it [misapplied] legislative intent and [contravened] legislative history; (2) Utah courts have never applied the term as proposed by [Questar]; and (3) [Questar's] proposed definition would create inherent and unintended conflicts with other longstanding statutory and common laws.

R. 504-512.

The trial court convened a hearing on March 6, 2003, to receive additional oral arguments on the parties' motions for summary judgment. After receiving oral arguments, the trial court granted Questar's motion for summary judgment, ruling that the Builder's Statute of Repose barred all causes of action in Traveller's Complaint and that the doctrine of after-acquired title applied to give Questar an easement across Traveller's property.<sup>4</sup>

On April 21, 2003, Traveller filed a request for hearing to clarify the trial court's March 6, 2003 ruling, as well as an objection to Questar's proposed order on its motion for summary judgment. R. 513-518. Traveller's primary contention was that Questar had prepared a proposed order that had Traveller agreeing or

---

<sup>4</sup> Again, for some reason the trial court did not number the document entitled "Minutes: Motion for Summary Judgment" in its files, which was dated March 6, 2003. This document should follow chronologically between R. 512 and 513. A copy of this document appears, unnumbered, as the first page in volume 2 of the trial court's files.

stipulating to the fact that the “Right-of-Way and Easement Grant” document was on its face and within its four corners clear and unambiguous and that it granted an easement to “Mountain Fuel Supply Company, its successors and assigns.” R. 514.

Questar filed a reply to Traveller’s objection to the proposed order on April 25, 2003. R. 519-521.

On May 5, 2003, the trial court convened another hearing to clarify its order on Questar’s motion for summary judgment, which clarifications are included within the text of the trial court’s Order on Summary Judgment Dismissing Complaint with Prejudice and on the Merits. R. 526-538. A copy of the Court’s Order is attached hereto as Addendum No. 2.

On May 21, 2003, Traveller filed its notice of appeal. R. 541-542.

## **B. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. In 1988, Questar’s predecessor utility company, Mountain Fuel Supply Company (hereinafter “Mountain Fuel”), installed a high-pressure natural gas utility line through and across certain real property described as the Northeast Quarter of Section 2, Township 42 South, Range 16 West, Salt Lake Base and Meridian, and the Southeast Quarter of Section 35, Township 42 South, Range 16 West, Salt Lake Base and Meridian (“the subject property”). Mountain Fuel

completed installation of this high-pressure natural gas utility line on or about December 22, 1988. R. 527.

2. On December 2, 1988, Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess signed their names to the second page of a document entitled “Right-of-Way and Easement Grant” below a signature block containing the words “agreed and warranted,” which document purportedly granted Mountain Fuel, its successors and assigns, a specific right-of-way and easement 22 feet wide to “lay, maintain, operate, repair, inspect, protect, remove and replace pipe lines, valves, valve boxes and other gas transmission and distribution facilities through and across” the subject property. R. 527.

3. Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess were not the legal owners of the subject property on December 2, 1988; rather, the record owners of the subject property on this date were Progressive Acquisition, Inc., a Nevada corporation; St. George #5 Partnership; St. George #6 Partnership; St. George #7 Partnership; and Progressive Investment Corporation, a Nevada corporation, as trustee under a trust agreement dated the 24<sup>th</sup> day of February 1986, known as “Red Hills Trust.” R. 66-71, 94-95, 98, 109-110, 527.

4. On August 7, 1989, Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess as beneficiaries in interest under a purchase money trust deed became the owners of the subject property through a non-judicial foreclosure sale. R. 527.

5. On February 5, 1992, Mountain Fuel caused the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant document to be recorded. R. 527.

6. On September 24, 1992, Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess quit-claimed their interest in the subject property to "Berniece B. Swart, Trustee, or her successor in trust as Trustee of the R & E Farms Trust under agreement dated September 17, 1992." R. 528.

7. On December 31, 1998, Berniece B. Swart, Trustee of the R & E Farms Trust, conveyed the subject property by warranty deed to Traveller. R. 528.

8. Neither Questar nor its predecessor-in-interest, Mountain Fuel, have ever claimed any equitable interest in the subject property, including a prescriptive easement. R. 528.

9. Neither Traveller nor Berniece B. Swart, Trustee of the R & E Farms Trust, have ever granted a written easement to Questar or its predecessor-in-interest, Mountain Fuel, to maintain a high-pressure natural gas utility line across the subject property. R. 74.

10. Traveller discovered the existence of the high-pressure natural gas utility line upon its property in 2002 while it was performing certain excavation work in furtherance of a commercial real estate development known as the Tonaquint Center, and requested that Questar remove or relocate the line, which Questar refused to do. R. 74 and 99.



11. From the standpoint of a real estate appraiser, the high-pressure natural gas utility line provides no benefit to Traveller's property because Traveller's property is served by a natural gas distribution line running under Dixie Drive, which runs along the opposite side of Traveller's property. R. 86 and 99.

12. From the standpoint of a real estate appraiser, the high-pressure natural gas utility line does not fit within the definition of an "improvement" to real property as that term is commonly referred to by real estate appraisers because said high-pressure natural gas utility line in no way enhances the value of or otherwise produces a tangible benefit to Traveller's property. R. 87 and 99.

13. On or about July 26, 2002, following certain unheeded written requests to Questar to remove and relocate the high pressure natural gas feeder line, Traveller filed a lawsuit, seeking to quiet title to the disputed portion of the subject property, as well as claims for immediate declaratory relief, trespass, private nuisance and ejectment. R. 1-9.

### **VIII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Traveller's appeal contains three principal arguments. First, the trial court abused its discretion in granting Questar's motion for summary judgment amid an important disputed material fact. The record before the Court of Appeals clearly reveals that the trial court acknowledged there was a disputed material fact surrounding the execution of the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant document by

the Burgesses through its finding of a “purported” grant, and foreclosed Traveller from conducting discovery to resolve this disputed fact. Thereafter, the trial court ruled as a matter of law that the document it previously suggested was ambiguous, on its face and within its four corners, clearly granted an easement.

Second, the Builder’s Statute of Repose does not bar equitable claims for ejectment, declarative relief and quiet title because the statute was never designed to eliminate these statutory and common law rights.

Third, a high-pressure natural gas utility line that admittedly provides no tangible benefit to Traveller’s property does not constitute an “improvement” within the meaning of the Builder’s Statute of Repose.

These last two issues present legal questions first impression in Utah jurisprudence regarding the scope of the Builder’s Statute of Repose.

## **IX. ARGUMENT**

### **A. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING QUESTAR’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BY IGNORING A MATERIAL ISSUE OF FACT**

#### **1. The Presence of a Dispute as to a Material Fact Disallows the Granting of a Summary Judgment**

Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states in pertinent part as follows:

The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any

material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

U.R.C.P. 56(c) (2004). Conversely, Utah courts have recognized that “the presence of a dispute as to material facts disallows the granting of a summary judgment.” *Bill Brown Realty, Inc. v. Abbott*, 562 P.2d 238 (Utah 1977).

When reviewing a trial court’s grant of a motion for summary judgment, Utah appellate courts should review the facts “in the light most favorable to the party opposing a motion for summary judgment.” *Price Dev. Co. v. Orem City*, 2000 UT 26, ¶2, 995 P.2d 1237. “In reviewing a summary judgment, [appellate courts] accord no deference to the trial court and review its ruling for correctness.” *Id.* at ¶9. As explained below, the trial court abused its discretion in granting Questar’s motion for summary judgment because it did so despite the existence of a significant disputed material fact.

## **2. There Is a Material Issue of Fact as to Whether Traveller’s Predecessors in Interest Intended to Grant an Easement**

When opposing Questar’s motion for summary judgment Traveller argued that it was necessary for the trial court to receive evidence to determine exactly what Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess intended when they signed their names below the clause “Agreed and Warranted” on the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant document on which they were not identified as the named grantors. *See, e.g., Traveller’s Request for Hearing...and Objection to Defendant’s*

Proposed Order, R. 514. Examination of this document reveals that the Burgesses' signatures are affixed to an arguably unrelated portion of this document. A copy of the Right-of-way and Easement Grant is attached hereto as Addendum No. 1.

Certainly, the terms "agreed" and "warrant" are not customary terms used to grant an easement, and this language coupled with all of the peculiar facts regarding ownership of the subject property, including the Burgesses' own lack of ownership when they signed this document, lend credence to a variety of plausible meanings regarding the Burgesses' intent. For example, as the beneficiaries of a trust deed on the subject property it is more likely they were manifesting their intent to subordinate their security interest in the property to the interest of the intended easement holder. Yet, as set forth above in the statement of facts, even the named grantor on this document, "Progressive Investment Corp.," was not the sole owner of the subject property in December 1988. Rather, it was collectively owned by Progressive Acquisition, Inc., a Nevada corporation; St. George #5 Partnership; St. George #6 Partnership; St. George #7 Partnership; and Progressive Investment Corporation, a Nevada corporation, as trustee under a trust agreement dated the 24<sup>th</sup> day of February 1986, known as "Red Hills Trust." R. 66-71, 94-95, 98, 109-110, 527.

For more than a hundred years Utah courts have recognized that "in construing written instruments, effect is to be given to the instrument or writing as

a whole, though single clauses taken alone [might] give a different construction.” *Cereghino v. Wagener*, 4 Utah 514, 11 P. 568 (Utah 1886). Arguably, therefore, Questar has isolated and focused upon the three-word phrase “Agreed and Warranted” to the complete exclusion of the rest of the document, which identified a different party as the grantor and intended signatory to the document. To date, there has been inadequate discovery on these critical factual issues and consequently there remain significant factual issues for the trier of fact to resolve.

Notwithstanding, examination of the trial court’s Order on Summary Judgment Dismissing Complaint with Prejudice and on the Merits (hereinafter “Order”) reveals that the trial court disregarded this important factual dispute in reaching its conclusions of law. R. 526-538. In the second paragraph of the trial court’s Statement of Undisputed Material Facts it found as follows:

On December 2, 1988, Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess signed their names to the second page of a document entitled “Right-of-Way and Easement Grant” in a signature block below the words “agreed and warranted,” which document **purportedly** granted Mountain Fuel, its successors and assigns, a specific right-of-way and easement 22 feet wide to “lay, maintain, operate, repair, inspect, protect, remove and replace pipe lines, valves, valve boxes and other gas transmission and distribution facilities through and across” the Subject Property.

R. 527 (emphasis added). The act of granting of an easement is a necessary absolute: it is either granted or it is not. The trial court’s determination that the Burgesses “purportedly” granted an easement necessarily amounts to an

acknowledgement by the trial court that it either made no specific factual finding on this issue or recognized there was a genuine factual dispute between the parties. In either case, the trial court ruled improperly.

Notwithstanding, the trial court then made its third factual finding, which was and is undisputed by the parties and states: “Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess were not the legal owners of the subject property on December 2, 1988 [when they signed the purported easement document], rather, they were beneficiaries of a trust deed recorded against the Subject Property.” R. 527. If the trial court was uncertain whether the Burgesses in fact granted an easement to Mountain Fuel, then this third finding of fact further degrades the trial court’s analytical method.

The foregoing analysis of the trial court’s findings of fact reveals that it left this important factual issue unresolved, and then premised its conclusions of law upon these seemingly contradictory and disputed issues of material fact. The trial court should not have considered the applicability of the doctrine of after-acquired title (codified as Utah Code Ann. §57-1-10) until it first resolved the factual issue of whether there was a grantor that intended to grant an easement by signing some document.

In fact, the doctrine of after-acquired title only applies to instances where a person not vested with title attempts to convey an estate in land or grant a

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