2003

Kay H. Traveller Investments, LLC, a Utah limited liability company v. Questar Gas Company, a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As a matter of law, the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant is valid and enforceable. This written document constitutes either an actual grant of an easement before and without any court action, or it is an attempt to grant an easement that became subject to the doctrine of after-acquired title, and became fully enforceable upon transfer of title to the Burgesses. The law of after-acquired title provides that easements obtained under circumstances like those here are fully enforceable and valid. It provides that parties who, like the Burgesses, do not have title to the property at issue but sign a Right-of-Way and Easement Grant and intended³ to grant an easement, will be bound by that easement if they later acquire the

² See, e.g., Traveller’s Brief ¶¶ 3, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13.

³ Notably, Traveller did not properly raise any issues of intent before the trial court ruled on this matter, and it cannot raise such issues now on appeal. *Walter v. Stewart*, 2003 UT App 86, ¶ 33, 67 P.3d 1042, *cert. denied*, 73 P.3d 946.

property. Here, the trial court properly evaluated the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant on its face and the subsequent 1989 Trustee's Deed Upon Sale and concluded that, as a matter of law, there was a valid grant of an easement. The trial court's decision is correct and should not be disturbed.

The trial court was also correct in its determination that, as an entirely separate and distinct ground for dismissal, the Statute of Repose barred Traveller's claims. Central to this determination, the trial court correctly noted that a natural gas utility line is an "improvement" under the definition set forth in the Statute of Repose. Utah's state legislature was unequivocal in defining "improvement," as it is used in the statute, to include "any . . . infrastructure, *utility*, or other *similar man-made change*, addition, modification or alteration to real property." Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-21.5(1)(d) (Supp. 2004) (emphasis added). Traveller's attempts to superimpose some other definition drawn from materials outside the Statute of Repose is directly contrary to the express intent of the Statute of Repose. The Statute of Repose makes clear that the legislature intended to protect those who provide man-made alterations to the property regardless of what might be deemed an "improvement" in another context. Tax statutes and common dictionary definitions are irrelevant, particularly when the legislature is as unequivocal as it was in drafting the Statute of Repose. Similarly, case law from other states whose statutes do not clearly define the term "improvement" is simply irrelevant.

Additionally, the Statute of Repose does not contain any "exemption" for a quiet-title action. Like other causes of action, quiet-title is subject to the statutes of limitations

and repose, such as those limiting claims based upon contracts, fraud, trespass or negligence, as well as those affecting an improvement to real property (as defined by the Statute of Repose). The plain language of the Statute of Repose states that it will apply to all causes of action and that the only effect it will have on other limitation periods will be to not extend such periods. The plain language does not prohibit shortening limitation periods that would otherwise be applicable.

Finally, there were and are no issues of material fact that preclude affirming the trial court's result. Traveller's belated assertion that some issue exists concerning the Burgesses' intent in signing the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant is directly contrary to the clear expression of intent contained on the face of the document, it is pure conjecture, and is contrary to Traveller's representations to the trial court. Traveller presented no evidence—by affidavit or otherwise—suggesting that the intent was anything other than that expressed in the document itself.

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE AFTER-ACQUIRED TITLE DOCTRINE RENDERS THE RIGHT-OF-WAY AND EASEMENT GRANT FULLY ENFORCEABLE AND VALID.

The Right-of-Way and Easement Grant is clear on its face and, after examining the document, the trial court correctly concluded that “[t]he Right-of-Way and Easement Grant shows that Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth Burgess *intended* to grant Mountain Fuel and its successors and assigns an easement and right-of-way according to the terms set forth within the document.” (R. 535, emphasis added). There is nothing within the Right-of-

Way and Easement Grant to suggest a contrary intent. Upon determining that the intent of the Burgesses was clear within the document itself, the trial court then properly applied the after-acquired title doctrine to conclude the document that purported to grant the easement became an actual and valid grant of the easement when the Burgesses acquired actual title.

1. Under the Doctrine of After-Acquired Title, the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant is Valid.

The trial court's detailed order shows that the court employed the appropriate analysis of the undisputed material facts and the law to reach the conclusion that the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant is valid and enforceable.

Utah statutory law provides:

If any person shall hereafter convey any real estate by conveyance purporting to convey the same in fee simple absolute, and shall not at the time of such conveyance have the legal estate in such real estate, but shall afterwards acquire the same, the legal estate subsequently acquired shall immediately pass to the grantee, his heirs, successors, assigns, and such conveyance shall be as valid as if such legal estate had been in the grantor at the time of the conveyance.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-10 (2000). The Utah Supreme Court has recently extended the doctrine of after-acquired title or estoppel by deed to apply to written attempts to grant easements. *Arnold Industries v. Love*, 2002 UT 133, 63 P.3d 721. It reasoned that “[t]o allow a grantor to deny the terms of its conveyance after acquiring title by repudiating an easement originally intended to be granted would be an invitation to fraud and would contravene the central purpose of the equitable doctrine of estoppel by deed.” *Id.* at ¶ 18.

In the present matter, there is no dispute that the document was signed by the Burgesses, the very people who later obtained the property. Moreover, after examining the face of the document, the trial court concluded that it clearly “shows that Rodney C . Burgess and Elizabeth Burgess intended to grant Mountain Fuel and its successors and assigns an easement and right-of-way according to the terms set forth within the document.” (R. 535). Despite Traveller’s claims, nothing in the record supports a contrary conclusion.

Having reached this conclusion, the trial court applied *Arnold* and determined that the doctrine of after-acquired title applied. The Right-of-Way and Easement Grant was, in the terms of § 57-1-10, a “conveyance purporting to convey” the easement, by the Burgesses, who did not at the time “have the legal estate in such real estate,” but afterwards “acquire[d] the same.” Accordingly, “the legal estate subsequently acquired shall immediately pass to” Mountain Fuel (Questar) and “such conveyance shall be as valid as if such legal estate had been in [the Burgesses] at the time of conveyance.” *See Arnold*, at ¶ 15. In the face of the undisputed facts, the trial court correctly concluded that, pursuant to the doctrine of after-acquired title, the easement became valid upon the conveyance of the property to the Burgesses. The court said, “[t]hrough the doctrine of the after-acquired title that within the four corners of the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant, Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess granted an easement to Mountain Fuel and that the document is a valid conveyance of the described easement.” (R. 536). It could reach no other conclusion.

2. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant Was Not Ambiguous and That It Could Be Interpreted Within its Four Corners.

Regardless of whether Traveller claims that intent was clear from the document, the trial court properly looked only to the document to determine the Burgesses' intent. It is well-established law that, if a document is clear, extrinsic evidence is not needed. In *Meridian Ditch Company, Inc. v. Koosharem Irrigation Co.*, 660 P.2d 217, 221 (Utah 1983), the Utah Supreme Court discussed the issue, stating "[b]eing thus unambiguous, it would be superfluous, and moreover, inappropriate, to consider extrinsic evidence in determining the provision's meaning." This rule applies equally to documents involving real property. In *Ault v. Holden*, 2002 UT 33, ¶ 37, 44 P.3d 781, the Supreme Court stated "[d]eeds are construed like other written legal instruments." The Supreme Court further remarked that, like any other document, "we determine the parties' intent from the plain language of the four corners of the deed." *Id.* at ¶ 38.

The trial court rightly declined to consider extrinsic evidence because it determined that the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant was unambiguous. The trial court observed that, although the Burgesses are not specifically identified as "grantors" on the document, they "did acknowledge that they 'warranted' the conveyance stated within the document." (R. 534). According to the Court, therefore, it was as if the Burgesses had been the "grantors." (R. 534). The court continued, stating "[t]he term 'warrant' as used in a conveyance means both to assure the title to the property sold by an express covenant and that the title of the grantee shall be good, and the possession undisturbed." (R. 534-35).

Indeed, the first line of the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant states that the grantor “do[es] hereby convey *and warrant* to Mountain Fuel Supply Company . . .,” showing that it was the grantors’ intent to warrant the right-of-way and easement identified in the document. (R. 45 (emphasis added)). Therefore, when the Burgesses signed off on their intent to *warrant* the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant, they were using the identical language set forth at the beginning of the document.⁴

The Right-of-Way and Easement Grant contains the language needed to grant the right of way and easement, provides for maintenance of the easement, and sets forth limits to the use of the easement. These facts show a clear and undisputed intent to convey a right-of-way and an easement to Questar’s predecessor, Mountain Fuel. Nothing in the document even hints of some alternate use or meaning.

Traveller now makes the unsupported claim that the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant was ambiguous and requests a remand to the trial court for a factual determination. Not only is the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant unambiguous, there is simply no factual information that would suggest that the Burgesses harbored any other intent in signing it.

⁴ The copy of the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant attached to Traveller’s Appellant Brief as Addendum 1 is not a true and correct copy of the document in the trial court’s record. The back page of Appellant’s Addendum No. 1, has lines near the signatures and the words “agreed and warranted” on the original. (R. 46). A true and correct copy of the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant is provided herewith as Exhibit A to the Addendum.

3. There Are No Disputed Issues of Fact as to Whether the Right-of-Way and Easement Grant Is Unambiguous on its Face.

The trial court was correct in examining the face of the document to determine intent. Traveller's claim that it "argued that it was necessary for the trial court to receive evidence to determine exactly what Rodney C. Burgess and Elizabeth L. Burgess intended when they signed their names" is directly contrary to the record.⁵ Traveller's Brief at 11. Indeed, Traveller itself asserted below that no material facts were at issue. Traveller's Memorandum in Opposition to Questar's Motion for Summary Judgment, which was filed on November 6, 2002, was unclear as to whether Traveller claimed a disputed issue of fact existed. (R. 95). Traveller clarified the ambiguity in its pleading when, in its Memorandum in Opposition to Questar's Rule 56(f) Motion to Continue Traveller's Motion for Summary Judgment, it said, "[d]espite what either party has said to the contrary in its Motion for Summary Judgment, *there are no disputes of material fact* and/or need for the parties to undertake additional discovery before the Court may properly rule on the parties' Motions for Summary Judgment." (R. 152, emphasis added). Traveller went on to state "[e]ssentially, *both parties have asked the Court to examine the 'Right-of-Way and Easement Grant' document on its face and within its four corners . . .*" (R. 152 (emphasis added)).

⁵ The record before this Court contains only those pleadings and memoranda that the parties submitted to the trial court. It does not include the transcript of oral arguments. Traveller has "certifie[d] that no transcript of any district court hearing is required to supplement the record on appeal." (R. 543).

In fact, Traveller was quite emphatic that there was no need to look outside of the document itself to determine the intent of the Burgesses, stating in the same Memorandum that “[i]ntent and notice are *immaterial to the resolution* of the parties’ Motions for Summary Judgment because the Court can examine the document *on its face and within its four corners* and make a ruling on both parties’ Motions for Summary Judgment.” (R. 154 (emphasis added)). Until now both parties and the trial court all agreed that no issues of disputed fact existed, and that the trial court was merely considering issues of law.

Traveller erroneously interprets the trial court’s acknowledgment of the defect in the original conveyance as a factual dispute when it was simply a predicate to the application of the after-acquired title doctrine. If the document clearly sets forth all of the information needed to grant the conveyance, there would be no need to apply the after-acquired title, as the document would already be the conveyance. The after-acquired title doctrine presumes that the original conveyance was technically defective and that other, equitable reasons support its enforcement. What Traveller advances as an ambiguity between the trial court’s statement of a material undisputed fact and its ultimate conclusion is nothing more than the very analysis intended by the doctrine of after-acquired title.

Moreover, if Traveller saw an issue of fact during the proceedings below, it was obligated to raise the issue then. It did not. Traveller cannot, at this late date, change its approach. This Court should reject Traveller’s manufactured argument that further discovery or a resolution of a factual issue is necessary.

Finally, Traveller offers no admissible evidence to sustain its claim that there is a genuine fact in dispute that precludes disposition on summary judgment. In order to sustain such a claim, Traveller must show by “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits”⁶ that there is a genuine issue of material fact. Traveller has cited none of these indicia of a *bona fide* material fact.

Although Traveller made a claim in its Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment⁷ that there is a “material dispute of fact” (R.95, ¶ 4), it has provided no evidence that there actually is such a dispute. Its conjectures and assertions that there is an issue of material fact do not create one. *Tripp v. Vaughn*, 746 P.2d 794 (Utah App. 1987). Absent some admissible evidence to the contrary, Traveller’s claims of disputed fact cannot prevail.

B. THE STATUTE OF REPOSE WAS INTENDED TO AND DOES BAR ACTIONS DIRECTED TO QUESTAR’S UTILITY LINE, WHICH IS A STATUTORY IMPROVEMENT TO REAL PROPERTY.

Because the application of the doctrine of after-acquired title directly resolves the issues on appeal, this Court need go no further. However, the Statute of Repose provides a second independent ground for upholding the trial court’s dismissal of Traveller’s Complaint.

The Statute of Repose provides that “[a]n action by or against a provider based in contract or warranty shall be commenced within six years of the date of completion of the

⁶ Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

⁷ Traveller’s November 11, 2002 Rule 56 Cross-Motion was combined with its Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

improvement or abandonment of construction” Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-21.5 (Supp. 2004). Traveller does not dispute that Mountain Fuel was a “provider,” and that Traveller did not commence this action within the time limits imposed by the Statute of Repose. Traveller’s sole contention is that the natural gas utility line at issue is not an “improvement,” as that term is used in the Statute of Repose. (R. 99-103).

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